
 

EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 

1 If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately. 
2 Follow the green signs. 
3 Use the stairs not the lifts. 
4 Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 
 

 
If you require further information, please contact: Amanda Roden 
Telephone: 01344 352253 
Email: amanda.roden@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
Published: 24 September 2015 

  

 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

Local Countryside Access Forum 
Tuesday 6 October 2015, 7.00 pm 
Function Room, Fifth Floor, Easthampstead House, Town Square, 
Bracknell 

To: Local Countryside Access Forum 

Michael Abbott (Chairman) 
Colin Bird 
Councillor Michael Brossard 
John Deakin 
Councillor Alvin Finch 
Hugh Fitzwilliams 
David Lindop 
Richard Mosses 
Peter Radband 
Jenny Yung 

 

ALISON SANDERS 
Director of Corporate Services 
 



 

 

Local Countryside Access Forum 
Tuesday 6 October 2015, 7.00 pm 
Function Room, Fifth Floor, Easthampstead House, Town 
Square, Bracknell 

AGENDA 
 
 Page No 

1. Welcome   

2. Election of Chairman   

3. Apologies   

4. Minutes of Last Meeting and Matters Arising  5 - 12 

5. Membership and Recruitment   

  Member training opportunities 
 

 

6. LAF related Meetings/Conferences   

  Regional LAF Chairs Meeting 

 Regional LAF Officers update 

 SE LAF Annual Conference 

 LAF Annual Conference 
 

13 - 14 

7. Huddle   

8. Big Path Watch   

9. Access Improvement Works   

  PROW maintenance / improvement 

 S106 funded projects – quality improvement works to parks and 
open spaces 

 SANGs improvements 
 

 

10. Beating The Boundary Walk   

11. LCAF Annual Report   

12. Site Visits   

  Jealott’s Hill Community Landshare Project 
Please bring ideas for future visits. 
 

 

13. Annual Return of Rights of Way Management data   

14. Reports from Members round the table   

15. Public Question Time   

 (Maximum 10 Minutes)  



 

 

 

16. Date of Next Meeting   

 Tuesday 1 March 2016, 7pm, Function Room, 5th Floor, 
Easthampstead House, Town Square, Bracknell 
 

 

 





Unrestricted 

LOCAL COUNTRYSIDE ACCESS FORUM 
3 MARCH 2015 
7.00  - 9.25 PM 

  

 
Present: 
Members: 
Michael Abbott (Chairman) 
Councillor Michael Brossard 
John Deakin 
Councillor John Porter 
Peter Radband 
Jenny Yung 
 
In attendance: 
Graham Pockett, Parks & Countryside Development Officer 
Robert Solomon, Ranger (Countryside and PROW) 
Richard Walton, Head of Parks & Countryside 
Rose Wicks, Parks & Countryside Projects Officer 
 
Observers: 
Colin Bird, member of public 
Colin Patient, Mid & West Berks LAF 
 
Apologies for absence were received from: 
Hugh Fitzwilliams 
Richard Mosses 
 

12. Welcome  

13. Minutes of Last Meeting and Matters Arising  

The minutes of the meeting held on 30 September 2014 were agreed as a correct 
record, subject to the following amendment: 
 
Minute 4: ‘There was a National Conference held in Bristol on 4 February 2014’ 
(rather than 2015). 

14. Membership and Recruitment  

Sharon Holt, who had an equestrian background, had resigned from the Forum. 
Jenny Yung on the Forum had a similar equestrian background. Officers would write 
to Sharon to thank her for her work on the Forum. 

(Action: Richard Walton) 
 

Innes McEwen had stepped down from the Forum since leaving Syngenta. Julia 
Emburey was in an interim role at Syngenta and was invited to Forum meetings. 
Bracknell Forest Council (BFC) officers would continue to promote Forum recruitment 
and membership online, at careers fairs and in the local media. Forum members 



 

were requested to spread the word as well. Suggestions for advertising included SPA 
wardens and the Forestry Commission. 

(Action: Rose Wicks/ All) 

15. National and Regional LAF Work  

Mike Abbott attended a Berkshire Local Access Forum (LAF) Chairs’ meeting in 
February, which was also attended by Rose Wicks. Topics discussed included 
encouraging joint working with other LAFs, producing a map of cross boundary paths 
and known issues, developing list of paths that change status across boundaries, 
sharing information about BFC paths with cross boundary issues and investigating 
options to obtain consistency amongst authorities with regard to signage and 
waymarking, for example, making waymarkers more uniform with a contact number 
and logo. Volunteers were being replied upon more now that some LAFs were losing 
support from Local Authorities.  

(Action: Rose Wicks) 
 
It had been queried whether a members’ code of conduct was needed for the Forum. 
It was not a mandatory requirement to have one and there had been no issues with 
the forum, but what other LAFs had would be considered and the information might 
be incorporated into a recruitment pack for the Forum. 

(Action: Rose Wicks) 
 
Peter Radband had attended the Bracknell Forest Partnership event and there had 
been a presentation on the day from different partnerships.  Not many people at the 
event were aware of the work of LCAF or had even heard of the Forum. There were 
workshops at the event where Peter promoted the work of the Forum. Peter was due 
to attend a meeting of the Bracknell Forest Access Group in April and would promote 
Forum recruitment at this meeting. 

(Action: Peter Radband) 
 
It was suggested that the Forum could liaise with the Health and Wellbeing Board 
and the Children and Young People’s Partnership regarding the work of the Forum. 

(Action: Michael Abbott/ Peter Radband) 
 

The South East Annual LAF Conference would be held soon; dates and further 
information would be e-mailed to Forum members. 

(Action: Rose Wicks) 
 

LAF Chairs had been sent a letter from Natural England (NE) informing them that the 
funding for Regional Co-ordinators would cease from 1 April 2015. This was due to 
NE having to reprioritise its work in the light of ever more stringent funding. NE would 
continue to encourage their area teams to work with LAFs and they would still 
facilitate the sharing of information and good practice on Huddle and through their 
newsletters. 

16. Huddle  

Huddle was an online tool and platform for LAFs. There had been a Westminster 
Briefing in relation to protecting Public Rights of Way (PROW) and changes to 
legislation, for further information Forum members could contact Rose Wicks. 
 
The Monitor of Engagement with the Natural Environment (MENE) survey undertaken 
on behalf of NE provided baseline and trend data on how people used the natural 
environment in England. Some of the key headline results from the 2013-14 survey 
included: 



 

 
 The most visited areas were parks in towns/cities – 778 million visits, which 

accounted for 27% of the total number of visits; 
 The biggest activity was dog walking – 1.47 billion visits, which accounts to 

50% of all the activities recorded; 
 The top visit motivations were for people to exercise their dogs; 
 52% of people strongly agreed that having open green spaces close to where 

they live was important. 
 
These national results fit with those obtained from the Bracknell Forest resident’s 
survey in 2014, which revealed that open spaces and access to nature were the top 
two things which people liked about living in Bracknell Forest. 

17. Access Improvement Works  

Public Rights of Way (PROW) 
 
Work continued with the Ramblers Association to identify where accessibility of 
Public Footpaths could be improved by replacing the older ‘step over’ or ‘squeeze’ 
stiles with new metal or wooden kissing gates. This met targets set out in the 
Bracknell Forest Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP). 
 
BFC had worked with South East Berkshire Ramblers to provide two new mobility 
kissing gate to replace the old squeeze stile and old step over stile on Binfield 
Footpath 11. The narrow gate at Binfield Footpath 16 (off of Peacocks lane) had been 
replaced with a more accessible gate. There had been improvements to the small 
footbridge on Warfield Footpath 7. A new gate had been installed, replacing an old 
step over stile along Bracknell Footpath 15, at the junction with Easthampstead Park 
Conference Centre (EPCC) driveway. Edging along Sandhurst Footpath 2 was due to 
be repaired or replaced and there was pipe installation at Winkfield Footpath 4 which 
worked well through winter. Litter clearance on Bracknell Footpath 5, ditch 
improvements on Crowthorne Footpath 18, and wooden bollards replaced with metal 
posts at Pendry’s Lane. 
 
There were regular minor repairs conducted by the Parks & Countryside rangers to 
the surface of the section of the Devil’s Highway (Restricted Byway), which accesses 
the Forestry Commission car park. This track was heavily used by motorised 
vehicles, which caused the surface to erode more quickly. BFC were exploring 
options for a more permanent solution; possibly working with the Forestry 
Commission in the new financial year 
 
The first section of the Devil’s Highway, leading to the Forestry Commission car park 
was a private road where a resident had issues with people parking opposite the end 
of their property entrance, thus causing an obstruction. If the land was owned by the 
resident then parking a car on that part could constitute trespass. They could erect 
signage indicating such. If the land was owned by someone else, then the issue 
could be discussed with them.  As the road was private, there was little the Council 
could do to prevent cars parking there. 
 
Section 106 funded works 
 
Implementation of the Quality Improvements Programme, Phase 1, Year 2, was 
underway and included: 

 Drainage / ditch work and path improvements at Farley Copse in Binfield; 

 Path improvement and tree works at Churchill House / Budham Hill in 
Bracknell; 



 

 Path surfacing, raised flower bed and new wildflower meadow area at The 
Greenway in Owlsmoor; 

 Creation of a path and new orchard and habitat improvement works at 
Warfield Chase; 

 Creation of a new meadow and installation of new site sign at Goddard Way, 
both in Warfield. 

 
The aim was for a north-south track from Warfield Park to Hayley Green Wood, and 
to improve drainage in ditches and grass areas. There were issues on the Goddard 
Way site regarding visual impact but once the work was finished it would look much 
better. There was a baseline quality assessment of green spaces in the borough, 
which was part of the Borough’s Local Plan Review and funding would be targeted at 
raising quality standards. 
 
Phase 2 works included: 

 Bracknell Town Council would be completing quality improvement works at 
Jocks Lane Recreation Ground and Sandhurst Town Council at Sandhurst 
Memorial Park; 

 Winkfield Parish Council had been granted £10,434 from Section 106 funding 
towards improvements; provision of outdoor gym equipment and associated 
safety surfacing at Allsmoor Field. 

 
Suitable Alternative Natural Green Spaces 
 
It was not known why the land at Jennett’s Park had not been transferred to BFC yet, 
as the snagging list had been agreed and no one benefitted from the delay. Peacock 
Meadows was being used and was accessible. 
 
Members were shown photographs of the SANG improvements at Parks & 
Countryside managed sites. 
 
At Englemere Pond there was a new section of boardwalk and panoramic photo 
showing habitat improvements, for example, scrub clearance; the improvements at 
the site were noticeable. At Longhill Park there were new steps through the woodland 
and a knee rail in the car park. 
 
Planned work at the Cut Countryside Corridor included: 

 Path works to link the new Manor Farm bridge with site entrances and 
Anneforde Place bridge to provide additional walking link  of approximately 
800 metres of path; 

 Replacement or restoration of existing steel bridge at Anneforde Place; 

 New Garth Meadow interpretation; 

 Piggy wood path and vegetation works. 
 
And at Shepherd Meadows: 

 Path works on southern bank, plus extension on northern bank. 
 
Planned work at Ambarrow Court included path works to link Ambarrow Hill with 
Ambarrow Court of approximately 630 metres involving close liaison with the National 
Trust; southern entrance project with various drainage and gate works; waymarkers; 
interpretation board and a cycle-rack project. At Horseshoe Lake there would be bank 
repair works and path works of approximately 160m. 



 

18. LCAF Annual Report  

The Annual Review Form for LCAF was due to be submitted to NE by the end of 
June 2015. The glossy version of the LCAF 2014 Annual Report was in draft form 
and needed approval from Forum members before being published on BFCs website 
by June 2015. 
 
The Annual Report was a requirement each year and included the Forum’s 
achievements and priorities along with comments from the Forum’s Chairman and 
officers. Rose Wicks would contact Forum members for their feedback and ideas. 

(Action: All) 

19. Site Visits  

There had been a site visit to Rooks Wood in Wokingham in conjunction with other 
local LAFs, where Forum members and Local Authority officers looked at how 
responsible dog ownership was being promoted by Wokingham Borough Council. 
This was a good opportunity to share best practice and see how other authorities 
were tackling the issue of irresponsible dog ownership, for example, addressing dog 
fouling and poor dog control.  
 
There was a need to get the balance right between promoting the message of 
responsible down ownership, without alienating the target audience. Providing dog 
bins in the right location was important to help encourage people to properly dispose 
of their dog’s waste. There could be better co-ordination between land owners and 
local authorities regarding this matter. The Crown Estate was keen to help with co-
ordinating hot spots for this. Muzzies roundabout dog bin, it was noted, was not being 
emptied regularly. 
 
Rooks Wood was a well managed site, with a good facility and pathways. Whilst this 
was a useful visit, it was suggested that Dinton Pastures would perhaps be a better 
site to visit, as irresponsible dog ownership appeared to be a bigger issue there.  
 
Future site visit ideas included: Swinley Forest pipeline with John Deakin, Jealott’s 
Hill Community Landshare Project, contact David Putt, and meeting at the new 
Community Centre at The Parks. 

(Action: Rose Wicks/ John Deakin) 

20. Reports from Officers  

Graham Pockett advised that Crowthorne Footpath 5 was temporarily closed to 
allow a scheme to widen and resurface the path. The closure came into force on 2 
March 2015 and would last for approximately one month. There was an obstruction at 
the start of Binfield Footpath 3 from Ryehurst Lane and a letter had been posted on 
site, asking the landowner to remove the obstruction or reinstate the stile to not less 
than the previous condition. If necessary, this would be followed up with a Section 
143 notice of the Highways Act 1980.  
 
In relation to Sandhurst Footpath 22 near Horseshoe Lake, part of the Blackwater 
Valley Path, a request had been received for temporary closure of the footpath to 
allow works to take place on the adjacent section of the River Blackwater. There was 
some concern about the length of the diversion required around Horseshoe Lake 
before being able to return to the Blackwater Valley Path but dates had not yet been 
confirmed. Graham mentioned on behalf of Richard Mosses, that ‘Mosses Path’ in 
Binfield had been named in memory of Robin Mosses who did much work on behalf 



 

of the Parish Council ensuring that footpaths remained an amenity for everyone to 
enjoy. 
 
Rose Wicks advised that the Bracknell Forest Ramblers Route leaflet had been 
updated with route corrections and revised maps. It was available on the website and 
printed copies would be brought to the next meeting of the Forum. Rose also 
mentioned that the Horse riding leaflet had been updated with the help of Jenny 
Young and Sharon Holt. 

21. Reports from Members round the table  

Peter Radband mentioned that the Broadmoor development had caused an 
increased amount of traffic on the roads. It was noted that the access road was 
private at present but if possible the legal status would be clarified. 
 
John Deakin mentioned that the horse riding policy at The Crown Estate would be 
changing and there would be one single permit for riding on land at Swinley Forest 
and Windsor Great Park from the start of May 2015. There would be no day permits, 
just annual permits, and the horse box parking areas would be moved to a location 
further south in Swinley Forest, which would be an improvement to its existing 
location at The Look Out. The aim was for more distinct areas for horse riding and 
access would be monitored as it progressed. Permit holders only could access some 
car parks via a permit code. Jenny mentioned that new discs were due to come out 
on 1 April 2015 and John would check this with Gareth. 

(Action: John Deakin) 
 
Councillor Brossard advised that a wild service tree had been purchased and 
planted by Sandhurst Town Council in memory of Mel Calvert, who sadly passed 
away last year. Mel was the founder and Life President of Longdown Lodge Estate 
Residents Association. Sandhurst Footpath 13 between Orchard Gate and Wellington 
Road would be designated ‘Calvert Walk’ to recognise his valuable contribution, with 
the signs funded by a community grant. 
 
Jenny Yung mentioned flytipping and Richard said that there had been site visits 
with Gail Siddall, BFC Environmental Health regarding this and officers were 
considering options for CCTV. There was the possibility of undertaking minor design 
modifications to make it more difficult for larger vehicles to flytip but this would make 
it difficult for horse boxes and restrict access rights for others. There was an online 
form to report issues such as obstructions on Public Rights of Way, on the Borough 
Council’s website; Rose would send a web link to Jenny. 

(Action: Rose Wicks) 
 
Peter Radband raised a query about QR codes to be put onto signs so people could 
scan them for information. Richard advised that using mobile in parks and open 
spaces had been investigated by officers within the Parks & Countryside service, but 
due to BFC internal policies and procedures, this was slow to be progressed. QR 
codes were also old technology and there was some reluctance to spend funding on 
them in case they should go out of date. Peter also queried whether the locations of 
defibrillators could be shown on maps. Richard advised that this was being looked 
into by councillors and officers. Rose could check with the Borough Council’s GIS 
Team to see if this had been mapped or if the NHS knew of the locations. 

(Action: Rose Wicks) 
 

John Deakin mentioned that the Swinley Forest pipeline activities were progressing 
as expected and the contractor’s behaviour had been acceptable with the agreement. 
The Crown Estate was working closely with Natural England regarding the disruption 



 

caused by the activities. Dan West who was Forest Ranger at The Crown Estate was 
working on an overarching plan for public access in the forest area and there would 
be a joined up approach in the borough with a plan for the car park, footpaths and 
dog bins. This could be presented to the Forum for feedback when completed. 

(Action: John Deakin) 

22. Public Question Time  

Colin Bird asked about hidden places in Bracknell Forest and how they could be 
pieced together for learning more about the area in relation to shorter walks and 
encouraging access. Rose would send Colin a link to the walking page on the 
Borough Council’s website and walks around the borough. Rob led regular moderate 
to advanced walks and other rangers led shorter and easier walks. Improvement 
projects funded by SANGs money and Section 106 developer contributions, did a lot 
to help improve and connect parks and open spaces throughout the Borough. These 
were due to be publicised via leaflets and the website.  
 
Any suggestions regarding links in parks and open spaces should be forwarded to 
Rose Wicks. 

(Action: All) 

23. Date of Next Meeting  

Tuesday 6 October 2015, 7pm, Function Room, 5th Floor, Easthampstead House, 
Town Square, Bracknell 
 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Summary by Hugh Fitzwilliams of SE Region LAF conference, 19 May, at Euston Rd, London 
Attended by 2 LCAF Members (Hugh Fitzwilliams and Colin Bird) and 1 BFC officer (Graham 
Pockett). 

It was an interesting and informative day. There were six presentations. The session on Cattle 
Attacks on PROWs was cancelled due to the speaker being unable to attend. Of the 40 names on 
the attendance list approx. 30 were present. 
 
Session 1.  The Future of Public Path Orders 
Mike Walker, Independent Consultant 
 
The session focused on the impending changes to the 2000 CROW Act relating to Diversion Orders. 
Currently there is no defined formal process for diversion applications and this has led to some 
illogical and inappropriate outcomes to landowners applications to divert paths. Key elements of the 
changes are: 
 
• The new rights will apply only to ‘any land of prescribed description’ this in essence will be 

agricultural land, gardens and private yards, schools, businesses etc.  
• The principle of diversion via an alternative acceptable route around gardens, yards schools 

etc. will be allowable and should be accommodated. 
• Objections without sound reason will not be allowable. 
• There will be no requirement to advertise the application or diversion in the local press. 
• There will be a right of appeal & SOS will have the power to say Yes or NO. 
• LA will have to respond to or take initial action on an application within 4 months and progress 

specific points within an application within 4 months otherwise the applicant can go directly to 
SOS for a decision. 

• The LA will have the option to take a neutral stance. 
• Costs will be carried by the applicant. 

 
It is hoped that the changes will allow for much wider more imaginative ‘packaging’ of changes 
which will encourage updating the relevance of routes and overall improvements to the PROW 
network. 
 
Session 2.  The Ramblers Big Path Project 
Helen Mthiyane, Project manager 
 
This was a briefing of the Ramblers Association project to get a wide cross section of individuals and 
groups whether regular walkers or not to survey the condition of all PROWs marked on the OS 
1:25000 maps of Britain. The project is funded by Rambler Holidays Charitable Trust and runs from 
July 13 to 31 Dec 2015. It is the Ramblers biggest project ever. 
The hope is that it will trigger a much wider involvement of society of all ages and types in 
understanding and making use of the wonderful network of paths within the UK.  Problems of access 
and signage etc. will be coordinated by the Ramblers and fed through to LAs and their own local 
groups. The survey will not differentiate between FPs, BRs & BWs. 
An App download showing a map of the area selected for survey by an individual along with the 
survey form will be available. 
 
Session 3.     Measuring the impact of successful funding bids 
Annette Weiss, Chiltern Conservation Board 
 
This was a fascinating report on how the Chilterns Conservation Board had evaluated the payback 
from a £48,000 Leader grant to create the Chilterns Cycleway. 
The Chilterns Cycleway is a 173 mile, on road, signed, long distance route suitable for both serious 
and leisure cyclists but overall quite challenging. It was opened in 2010. The total cost was £70K 
The evaluation included surveys of usage of pubs, accommodation and farm shops. Numbers of 
guide books sold, reviews on Twitter, Facebook and internet generally. 



The initial work discovered that users were usually in groups of 2 -4, stayed 2 nights and one new 
campsite had been created as a direct result of the route.  In addition Events organisers were using 
the route for corporate ‘team build’ days and that local tour operators were offering guided trips 
along the route. 
A Survey in 2012 recorded 55 over night users staying for an average 2.6 nights with an average 
spend of £71 per person including accommodation and an average group size of between 3 & 4. 
Day users had numbered 54 with an average group size of 3.9 and spend per person of £8. From 
these figures they had deduced that the probable annual inflow of revenue generated by the 
Cycleway route was in the region of £868,000. This added to the health & wellbeing benefits and 
seemed a very satisfactory return on the original grant of £48K. 

 
Session 4.  Coastal access update 
Jenny Bowen, Senior Advisor to Natural England 
 
This was an interesting update but not really very relevant to Bracknell! The Marine & Coastal 
Access Act 2009 is due to deliver for the whole of the England coast line by Dec 2020. Although a 
decent start has been made there is still a lot to do. The key points seemed to be: 

• It is perhaps as much a continuous coastal path as an access strip to the shore. 
• Where access is granted the land owner/ occupier will benefit from reduced liability. 
• There is a ‘fair balance test’ on what is or is not to be declared accessible. 
• The standard path width is 4m. 
• The principle is to find agreement through discussion & negotiation rather than compulsion. 
• Privacy of existing landowners/ occupiers must be taken into account. 
• Where the coast is eroding a principle of ‘roll back’ is written into all agreements and where 

necessary the future line of the path will be established in the current negotiations. 
• In estuaries the path and access will extend upstream to the first pedestrian or ferry crossing. 
• Work on all stretches of the coast line must be started by 2017. 

 
Session 5.   De-registering incorrectly recorded Common Land 
Grant McPhee, DEFRA 
 
The Act of 2006 appears to have been very badly worded and to have been full of errors with maps 
and text declaring privately owned dwellings to be themselves common land along with many other 
contested issues. To make a sorry story worse there is no finance available to make the necessary 
corrections. 
I found it difficult to hear this speaker, my notes are very thin but luckily to my knowledge Bracknell 
has little or no Common Land. 
 
Session 6.  Natural England Update 
Rob Leek and Kevin Haugh, Natural England 
 
The final session. 
The overall message was that resources are very tight and that Access Forums could expect 
nothing more than the bare routine support. 
Rob Leek showed a series of slides relating to Access Forum statistics.  The number of Forums has 
increased from 78 in 2011 to 100 in 2015.  85% of Forums submitted their annual report. This % is 
basically unchanged since 2011. There seems to be a generally positive response from Forums 
towards NE.  92% of Forums are represented on Huddle.  New contributors to Huddle are needed. 
Kevin Haugh explained the organisational structure for Access Forums nationally. Bracknell is in 
Area 10 - Thames Valley- and our area officer is Andrew Smith. The message again was that 
resources are tight but if we had specific issues on which we needed to involve Andrew at our 
meetings we were to ask. He encouraged us to explore the concept, within our areas, at joint 
meetings and perhaps common interest study groups. This seemed to me a sensible and practical 
way forward. 
 
Hugh Fitzwilliams 
20.05.2015 


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of Last Meeting and Matters Arising
	Minutes

	6 LAF related Meetings/Conferences
	Summary by Hugh Fitzwilliams of SE Region LAF conference, 19 May, at Euston Rd, London


